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)

THE COUNTY of KANKAKEE, a body politic
)

organized and existing under the laws of the

)
Equitable Relief Requested

State of Illinois, THE 
KANKAKEE COUNTY 
)
Plaintiffs Demand Trial by 

BOARD, Organized and existing under

) 
Jury

the laws of the State of Illinois, AND members of 
)

the Kankakee County Zoning Board: Karl Kruse, 
)

Board Chairman; Pamela Lee, Vice-Chairman; 
)

Douglas B. Graves; Jim Vickery; Jamie S. Romein;  )

Larry D. Gibbs; Stanley James; Ann Benard; James  )


Stauffenberg; Ruth Barber; Edwin Meents; Duane    )

Betrand; Robert Scholl; Sam T. Nicholos; Karen      )

Hertzberger; Linda Faber; George Washington, Jr.;  )

Frances P. Jackson; Rev. Elmer E. Wilson; Leonard )

Martin; Michael J. LaGeesse; Leo Whitten; James    )

R. Tripp; William H. Olthoff; Ralph Marcotte, Jr.;    )

Lisa Latham-Waskosky and Stephen  E. Liehr
)


Defendants.




COMPLAINT 
Now Come Plaintiffs, Joyce Conroy (hereinafter “Conroy”), Gary Akers (hereinafter “Akers”), and Cheryl Goerner (hereinafter “Goerner”), by and through their attorneys, F. Willis Caruso, Susan Connor, and Illinois Supreme Court Rule 711 student interns, Hana J. St. Clair and Michael E. Fleck, complaining against the Defendants, The County of Kankakee, a body politic organized and existing under the laws of the State of Illinois, (hereinafter the “County”), The Kankakee County Board, a body politic organized and exiting under the laws of the State of Illinois, (hereinafter the “Zoning Board and defendants who are County Board members: Karl Kruse, Board Chairman; Pamela Lee, Vice-Chairman; Douglas B. Graves; Jim Vickery; Jamie S. Romein; Larry D. Gibbs; Stanley James; Ann Benard; James Stauffenberg; Ruth Barber; Edwin Meents; Duane Bertrand; Robert Scholl; Sam T. Nicholos; Karen Hertzberger; Linda Faber; George Washington, Jr.; Frances P. Jackson; Rev. Elmer E. Wilson; Leonard Martin; Michael J. LaGreese; Kelly McLaren; Leo Whitten; James Tripp; William H. Olthoff; Ralph Marcotte, Jr.; Lisa Latham-Waskosky; and Stephen E. Liehr (hereinafter referred to as “the Board”). 

INTRODUCTION
1. This is an action for damages and injunctive relief resulting from denial of housing opportunities because of handicap and denial of a reasonable accommodation, which interfered with, and continues to interfere with Plaintiffs’ development, use, enjoyment, and occupancy of their property.

2. This action arises under the Fair Housing Act of 1968, as amended in 1988, 42 U.S.C. §§ 3601, 3604 , 3604(f) and 3604(f)(3)(B)  and 3617.  Plaintiffs complain that defendants discriminated against them because of handicap.

3. This action also arises under the Takings Clause of the Fifth Amendment incorporated into the Fourteenth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution, and the 1866 Civil Rights Act, and 42 U.S.C. §1983 and Article I, Section 2 of the Illinois State Constitution, which prohibits the taking or damaging private property without just compensation.

JURISDICTION
4. Jurisdiction in this matter is conferred upon this court under 28 U.S.C. §1343 (a)(4); 42 U.S.C. §3613(a); 28 U.S.C. §1331; 28 U.S.C. §2201; 28 U.S.C. §1367.

5. Jurisdiction in this matter is conferred upon the Central District of Illinois, Urbana Division under CDIL-LR 40.1(D) because the matters complained of took place in such District and Division and defendants are located therein. 
PARTIES

6. Conroy and Akers, currently reside at 23119 Malibu St., Manhattan, Will County, Illinois.

7. Goerner, her husband, and her children currently reside at 170 Ash Street, Park Forest, Cook County, Illinois. 

8. The County, the board members, and the Board (sometimes collectively referred to as “Defendants”), hold their meetings and have their principal place of business at 189 Court St., Kankakee, Kankakee County, which is in the Central District of Illinois, Urbana Division. 

9. Akers is 30 years old, weighs about 187 pounds, and is 6 feet 2 inches tall. 

10. Akers was severely injured in a car accident that renders him totally paralyzed from the chin down.  

11. Akers is permanently restricted to an oversized wheelchair. He is now a quadriplegic and his only mode of maneuvering is through the use of his oversized wheelchair.

12.  Akers is “a person with handicap,” as the Fair Housing Act defines the term.  42 U.S.C. §3602; 24 C.F.R. §1001.201.

13. Conroy is Akers’s mother and primary caregiver. 

14. Goerner is Akers’s sister and his other caregiver.  

15. Both caregivers take care of Akers 24 hour per day 7 days per week. Conroy and Goerner are “aggrieved persons” as defined in 42 U.S.C. § 3602 (i) (1).  

16. The County, the County board, and the board members are and were at all times relevant hereto, responsible for legislating zoning regulations, and for granting zoning variances in Kankakee County.

17. The County Board is, and was at all times relevant hereto, responsible for reviewing zoning variance requests, and for granting zoning variances in Kankakee County. 

18. The Board Members: Karl Kruse, Board Chairman; Pamela Lee, Vice-Chairman; Douglas B. Graves; Jim Vickery; Jamie S. Romein; Larry D. Gibbs; Stanley James; Ann Benard; James Stauffenberg; Ruth Barber; Edwin Meents; Duane Bertrand; Karl A. Kruse; Robert Scholl; Sam T. Nicholos; Karen Hertzberger; Linda Farber; George Washington, Jr.; Frances P. Jackson; Rev. Elmer E. Wilson; Leonard Martin; Michael J. LaGeese; Kelly McLaren; Leo Whitten; James R. Tripp; William H. Olthoff; Ralph Marcotte, Jr.; Lisa Latham-Waskosky; and Stephen E. Liehr are, and were at all times relevant hereto, responsible for legislating zoning regulations, and for granting zoning variances in Kankakee County.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

19. Conroy and Goerner are completely and solely responsible for Akers’s care twenty-four hours a day, seven days a week. Akers lives with Conroy, who is the primary caregiver. Conroy is frequently not able to move Akers herself and regularly requires assistance from Goerner.  

20. Before Conroy purchased the particular parcel in question Conroy consulted with the Kankakee County planning staff at the County building, on 189 East Court Street, Kankakee, Illinois in Kankakee County, to inquire as to the County’s requirements for permitting her to purchase the property, and put two residences on it so that Conroy and Goerner could both live on the property to provide care for Akers. 

21. Prior to purchasing the parcel, Conroy advised the County Planning Staff at the Kankakee Zoning and Building Department that She would be building “manufactured mobile-type” homes that allow modifications to provide accessibility and which could be modified to accommodate Akers’ disability.

22. Conroy consulted with the County Planning Staff to ensure the parcel was large enough to divide into two lots for two residences; one for Akers and Conroy; and the other for Goerner and Goerner’s family.  

23. Before purchasing the parcel Conroy advised the County planning staff that the “manufactured mobile-type” homes would be placed on a slab foundation on the site. 

24. Goerner would have a separate residence for her family but would be situated close enough to Akers to enable her to provide immediate and effective assistance to Akers and Conroy, as demanded by his disability.

25. Both now and as Conroy ages and/or becomes less able to care for Akers, Goerner will take on more responsibility. 

26. The parcel that Conroy was going to purchase was originally zoned A1-Agricultural.

27. The Planning Staff at the Kankakee Zoning and Building Department informed Conroy that two homes could be put on the parcel as long as zoning was changed from A1 to A2 and the property was also subdivided into two lots.

28.  The planning staff advised Conroy that she would obtain the zoning change and subdivision and be permitted to locate one home on each of the two resultant lots.

29. Then Conroy purchased the parcel that she consulted the Planning staff about. The parcel , consists of approximately 7.8 acres of property located at 9000 North and 9000 East Road in unincorporated Kankakee County. 

30. On September 14, 1999, The Kankakee County Board approved Conroy’s request for rezoning both lots from A1 to A2 Agricultural Estate District.

31. After Conroy had the property rezoned to A-2 agricultural estate zoning,  she  subdivided it and conveyed two acres to Goerner as one lot, by a quit claim deed, which was recorded.

32. Subsequent to the events described above, Vicki Senesak (hereinafter “Senesak”), a supervisor at the Kankakee Zoning and Building Department, met with Conroy.

33. For the first time at that meeting Senesak told Conroy that the subdivision was not exempt under the Plat Act and that now Conroy had additionally to comply with a Kankakee Ordinance by getting a “minor subdivision” approval from the county.

34.  Conroy obtained legal counsel who demonstrated to the County’s satisfaction that the property was already in fact subdivided. Once this was established further subdivision was not required. 

35. Conroy, Goerner, and Akers (sometimes referred to collectively as “Plaintiffs”) have spent more than $8,000.00 in reliance on and in following the directions given by the Kankakee planning staff.

36. When Conroy attempted to get county approval for the two homes she sought to place on the lots Senesak told Conroy to contact John Riley, a Plan Review Engineer at the Illinois Department of Public Health in Springfield, to get yellow stickers for red sticker units and attach them to the “manufactured” homes that were going on the lots. 

37. When Conroy met John Riley he informed her that Vicki Senesak’s procedural requirement to switch yellow stickers for red stickers in order to get building permits was not possible. 

38. Conroy had from time to time investigated available types of “manufactured” homes including what appeared to be what the Kankakee County Ordinance designated and defined as“ Manufactured modular-type” homes, which the county ordinance allows in A-2 Agricultural Estate District.  Conroy determined that what were called “manufactured modular-type homes could not be modified to accommodate Akers because of their narrow hallways and doorways which would prevent the use of Akers’s wheelchair.

39. Because Akers is confined to an oversized wheelchair he needs what is designated and defined by the County ordinance as a “manufactured mobile-type” home specifically constructed and/or modified to provide large enough doorways and rooms with large enough dimensions to allow his use of his wheelchair in the home.

40. The “manufactured mobile-type” homes that Plaintiffs are seeking to place on the property are constructed or can be modified to allow Akers to be able to maneuver unobstructed throughout the entire home.  

41. Without a variation, the Kankakee County Zoning Ordinance permits “manufactured Modular-type” homes on the subject property and prohibits the “manufactured mobile-type” homes proposed by Conroy and Goerner, so Conroy and Goerner each sought a variation. 

42. The Zoning Board of Appeals for Kankakee County on or about February 11, 2003 refused to recommend granting the requested variations because they found that the plaintiffs’ hardship that existed was “self-induced” and there were no unique conditions.  

43. The Zoning Board found that the variance will not be detrimental to the public welfare or injurious to adjoining properties. 

44. The Zoning Board recommended denial of the requests of Conroy and Goerner for zoning variance on or about February 11, 2003.  

45. The County Board denied the variance on or about April 8, 2003. 

46. On information and belief, the County was advised by petitioners’ expert witness that denial of the variance would violate the Fair Housing Act, and further advised by counsel for the County that they could not deny such variance to Conroy and Goerner, which resulted in a denial of housing on the basis of Akers’ handicap and in a denial of a reasonable accommodation. 

47. The county defined “manufactured mobile-type” homes proposed by Conroy and Goerner fully comply with HUD standards and are indistinguishable in appearance from what the county apparently attempts to distinguish and define as “manufactured modular-type” housing, which the County ordinance expressly permits.
48. The homes proposed to be built by Conroy and Goerner will be mounted on a slab or foundation, landscaped, and will be permanent structures.

COUNT I

Violation of the Fair Housing Act

49. Conroy repeats the allegations of Paragraphs 19 through 48 of this complaint and incorporates them as paragraphs 49-78 of Count I as if herein set forth in full.

79.  Conroy, as the caregiver of Akers is an aggrieved person under Section 802(i) of the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. section 3602(i).

80.  The County, the Board and the Board Members have violated the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 3601, et seq., by discriminating against persons because of handicap and by refusing to provide a reasonable accommodation by the conduct described above. 
81. The conduct of Defendants constitutes a denial to a person of rights protected by the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C.§§ 3601 et seq. 

82.  The requested accommodation is both reasonable and necessary to afford a handicapped person equal opportunity to use and enjoy a dwelling, as defined by Section 804(f)(3)(b) of the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. §3604(f)(3)(b) and its implementing regulations contained at 24 C.F.R. §100.204.

83.  The Board’s denial of variation requested by Conroy and Goerner to build the proposed “manufactured mobile-type” homes constitutes a denial of housing and is making housing unavailable because of handicap and association with and assisting a handicapped person, in violation of Section 804(f)(1) of the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. § 3604(f)(1) and interferes with rights protected by the Fair Housing Act in violation of 42 U.S.C. §3617.

COUNT II

Violation of the Fair Housing Act

84. Goerner repeats the allegations of Paragraphs 19-48 of this Complaint and incorporate them as paragraphs 84-113 of Count II as if herein set forth in full.

113.  Goerner, as the caregiver of Akers is an aggrieved person under Section 802(i) of the Fair Housing Act.

114. The County, and the Board have violated the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 3601, et seq., by discriminating against persons because of handicap by refusing a request for a reasonable accommodation by the conduct described above. The conduct of the County,  and the Board constitutes a denial to a person of rights protected by the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C.§§ 3601 et seq. 

115. The requested accommodation is both reasonable and necessary to afford a handicapped person equal opportunity to use and enjoy a dwelling, as defined by Section 804(f)(3)(b) of the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. §3604(f)(3)(b) and its implementing regulations contained at 24 C.F.R. §100.204.

116. The denial by the County, the board, and Board members of the request for a variation to enable Conroy and Goerner to build the proposed “manufactured mobile-type” homes constitutes a denial of housing and making housing unavailable because of association with and assisting a handicapped person, in violation of Section 804(f)(1) of the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. § 3604(f)(1) and interferes with rights protected by the Fair Housing Act in violation of 42 U.S.C. §3617.

COUNT III

Violation of the Fair Housing Act

117.  Plaintiff Akers repeats allegations of Paragraphs 19-48 of this complaint and     incorporate them as Paragraphs 118-147 of Count III as if herein set forth in full.

148. The County, and the Board have violated the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 3601, et seq., by discriminating against persons on the basis of handicap by refusing to reasonably accommodate as manifested by the conduct described above. The conduct of the County, the Board, and the Board members constitutes a denial to a person of rights protected by the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C.§ 3601 et seq.

149. The requested accommodation is both reasonable and necessary to afford a handicapped person equal opportunity to use and enjoy a dwelling, as defined by Section 804(f)(3)(b) of the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. §3604(f)(3)(b) and its implementing regulations contained at 24 C.F.R. §100.204.

150.  The denial by the County, the Board, and the Board members of the variation request made by Conroy and Goerner to build the proposed “mobile-type manufactured” homes constitutes a denial of housing and the making of housing unavailable because handicap in violation of Section 804(f)(1) of the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. § 3604(f)(1) and interferes with rights protected by the Fair Housing Act in violation of 42 U.S.C. §3617.

COUNT IV


      

Violation of the United States Constitution

Taking Property Without Just Compensation

151. Conroy realleges Paragraphs 19-48 of this Complaint and incorporates them as Paragraphs 152-181of Count IV as if herein set forth in full.

182. This Count is brought against the County, the Board, and the Board members in their official capacity.

183. This Count is an action for declaratory judgment and other relief brought pursuant to the Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution, which provides that private property shall not be “taken” without just compensation.
184. Conroy and Goerner exhausted their administrative remedies by seeking, and being denied, a variation from the ordinance requirement so that they could build on their “manufactured” home on the parcels located at what is commonly called 9000 North and 9000 East Road in Kankakee County. 

185. Defendants’ failure to grant a variance that Plaintiffs propose denies Plaintiffs economically viable use of the property.

186. The refusal or failure of the County, the Board, and the Board members to grant the variance to Conroy was and is arbitrary, capricious and unrelated to public health, safety and/or welfare.

187. The refusal or failure of the County, the Board, and the Board members to grant the variance to Conroy is unrelated and not “substantially” related to any proper public purpose.

188.  The “manufactured” homes that Plaintiffs propose will not diminish the value of the property of its adjacent or surrounding neighbors.

189.  The structures that Plaintiffs proposed will not cause any detriment to the public health, safety, or welfare.

190. The denial by the County, the Board, and the Board members of the petition for a variance by Conroy is unconstitutional and void because it violates the prohibition contained in the United States Constitution that private property shall not be taken for a public purpose without just compensation.

191.  42 U.S.C. §1983 and 42 U.S.C. §1988 provide a remedies in damages and attorney’s fees for the Defendants’ violation of the Plaintiff’s Constitutional rights.

COUNT V

         Violation of the United States Constitution 

        Taking of Property Without Just Compensation  

192.  Goerner realleges the allegations of Paragraphs 19 through 48 of the Complaint and incorporate them as Paragraphs 193-222 of Count VI as if herein set forth in full.

223. This Count is brought against the County, the Zoning Board and Board Members in their official capacity.

224.  This Count is an action for declaratory judgment and other relief brought pursuant to the Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution, which provides that private property shall not be “taken” without just compensation .

225. Goerner exhausted her administrative remedies by seeking, and being denied, a variation from the ordinance requirement so that she could build on her “manufactured” home on the parcel located at what is commonly called 9000 North and 9000 East Road in Kankakee County. 

226. Defendants’ failure to grant a variance that Plaintiffs propose denies Plaintiffs economically viable use of the property.

227. The refusal of failure of the County, the Board, and the Board members to grant the variance to Goerner, is arbitrary, capricious and unrelated to public health, safety and/or welfare.

228. The refusal or failure of the County, the Board, and the Board members to grant the variance to Goerner is unrelated and not “substantially related” to any proper public purpose.

229.  The “manufactured” homes that Plaintiffs propose will not diminish the value of the property of its adjacent or surrounding neighbors.

230. The structure that Conroy and Goerner proposed to build would not and will not cause any detriment to the public health, safety, or welfare.

231. The denial by the County, the Board, and the Board members of petition for a variance by and Goerner is unconstitutional and void because it violates prohibition contained in the United States Constitution that private property shall not be taken for a public purpose without just compensation.

232. 42 U.S.C. §1983 and 42 U.S.C. §1988 provide a remedies in damages and attorney’s fees for the Defendants’ violation of the Plaintiff’s Constitutional rights.

COUNT VI

Denial Of Equal Protection Of The Law In Violation 

Of The United States Constitution And 42 U.S.C. §1983
233. Conroy realleges Paragraphs 19-48 of this Complaint and incorporates them as Paragraphs 234-263 of Count X as if herein set forth in full.

264. The County, the board’s and the board member’s denial to grant the requested variance constitutes governmental action wholly impossible to relate to legitimate governmental objectives.

265. The refusal to grant the request for a variance on the parcel located at what is commonly called 9000 North and 9000 East Road is unconstitutional and void because it violates the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 2 of the Illinois State Constitution, which provides that no state or local government shall deprive any person of equal protection under the law. 

266. 42 U.S.C. §1983 and 42 U.S.C. §1988 provide a remedy, in damages and for attorney’s fees for violation by the County, the Board, and the Board members of federal constitutional rights. 

COUNT VII

Denial of Equal Protection of the Law in violation

of the United States Constitution and 42 U.S.C. §1983

267. Akers realleges Paragraphs 19-48 of this Complaint and incorporates them as Paragraphs 268-297 of Count VII as if herein set forth in full.

298. The County, the board’s and the board member’s denial to grant the requested variance constitutes governmental action wholly impossible to relate to legitimate governmental objectives.

299.  The refusal to grant the request for a variance on the parcel located at what is commonly called 9000 North and 9000 East Road is unconstitutional and void because it violates the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 2 of the Illinois State Constitution, which provides that no state or local government shall deprive any person of equal protection under the law. 

300. 42 U.S.C. §1983 and 42 U.S.C. §1988 provide a remedy, in damages and for 

attorney’s fees for violation by the County, the Board, and the Board members of federal constitutional rights. 

COUNT VIII

        Denial of Equal Protection of the Law in Violation 

of the United States Constitution and 42 U.S.C. §1983
301. Goerner realleges Paragraphs 19-48 of this Complaint and incorporates them as Paragraphs 302-331 of Count VIII as if herein set forth in full.

331. The County, the board’s and the board member’s denial to grant the requested variance constitutes governmental action wholly impossible to relate to legitimate governmental objectives.

332. The refusal to grant the request for a variance on the parcel located at what is commonly called 9000 North and 9000 East Road is unconstitutional and void because it violates the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 2 of the Illinois State Constitution, which provides that no state or local government shall deprive any person of equal protection under the law. 

333. 42 U.S.C. §1983 and 42 U.S.C. §1988 provide a remedy, in damages and for attorney’s fees for violation by the County, the Zoning Board, and the Board members of federal constitutional rights. 

COUNT IX




Violation of the Illinois State Constitution




Taking of Property Without Just Compensation 

334. Conroy realleges Paragraphs 19 through 48 of this Complaint and incorporate them as Paragraphs 335-364 of Count IX as if herein set forth in full. 

365.  This Count is an action for declaratory judgment and other relief brought pursuant to the Illinois State Constitution, which provides that private property shall not be “taken or damaged” without just compensation.

366.  Conroy exhausted administrative remedies by seeking, and being denied, a variation from the ordinance requirement to build a “manufactured” home on the parcel located at what is commonly called 9000 North and 9000 East Road in Kankakee County. 

367. The failure of the County, the Board, and the Board Members to grant a variance that Conroy proposed denies Conroy economically viable use of the property.

368.  The failure to grant the variance is arbitrary, capricious and unrelated to public health, safety and/or welfare.

369. The failure to grant the variance is unrelated and not “substantially” related to any proper public purpose.

370.  The home that Conroy proposes will not diminish the value of the property of its adjacent or surrounding neighbors.

371. The structure that Conroy proposes would not cause any detriment to the public health, safety, or welfare.

372.  Plaintiffs are entitled to just compensation and other damages on account of Defendants’ “taking” or “damaging” their property without just compensation.

COUNT X 

Violation of the Illinois State Constitution 




Taking of Property Without Just Compensation  

373. Goerner realleges Paragraphs 19 through 48 of this Complaint and incorporates them as Paragraphs 373-402 of Count X as if herein set forth in full. 

403.  This Count is an action for declaratory judgment and other relief brought pursuant to the Illinois State Constitution, which provides that private property shall not be “taken or damaged” without just compensation.

404. Goerner exhausted administrative remedies by seeking, and being denied, a variation from the ordinance requirement to build a “manufactured” home on the parcel located at what is commonly called 9000 North and 9000 East Road in Kankakee County. 

405. The failure of the County, the Board, and the Board members to grant a variance that Goerner proposed denies Goerner economically viable use of the property.

406.  The failure to grant the variance is arbitrary, capricious and unrelated to public health, safety and/or welfare.

407. The failure to grant the variance is unrelated and not “substantially related” to any proper public purpose.

408. The home that Goerner proposes will not diminish the value of the property of its adjacent or surrounding neighbors.

409. The structure that Goerner proposes would not cause any detriment to the public health, safety, or welfare.

410. Plaintiffs are entitled to just compensation and other damages on account of Defendants’ “taking” or “damaging” their property without just compensation.

COUNT XI

Detrimental Reliance/Equitable Estoppel 

411. Conroy realleges paragraphs 19-48 of this Complaint and incorporates them as Paragraphs 412-441 of Count XIII as if herein set forth in full.

442. The actions of taken by the County, the Board, and the Board members by and through their duly authorized agents, consisting of representing to Conroy the several steps of application and approval for the structures that she proposed were representations that she knew or should have known were representations that Conroy would rely on.

443. Conroy relied reasonably and forseeably to her detriment on the acts and approvals of the County, the Board, and the Board members so that the County, Zoning Board and Board Members are estopped from prohibiting Conroy from building the homes that Conroy proposed, which was denied the variation by the Board.

444. Conroy has suffered damage in the form of legal fees, increased of housing because of the County, the Board, and the Board members acts and did rely upon to Conroy’s substantial detriment.

445. Conroy has a vested right the County, the Board, and the Board members are estopped from denying this right after Conroy expended monies to pursue a variation after having relied upon the County, the Board, and the Board members representation that the homes proposed would be and were permitted, subject only to rezoning and subdivision of the parcel into two lots.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, 
Plaintiffs respectfully request that this court enter judgment for Plaintiffs and against the Defendants as follows:

a. A declaration that the actions of Defendants complained of herein violate: the Fair Housing Act, the Federal Constitution, the Illinois Constitution, and Illinois common law.

b. An injunction compelling Defendants to permit Plaintiffs’ homes on the respective parcels of land that they  own.

c. Compensatory Damages, 

d. Punitive Damages

e. Attorney’s Fees

f. Such other and further relief as this Court may deem just and proper. 

Respectfully submitted,

MS. JOYCE CONROY, MR. AKERS, AND MS. GOERNER,

Plaintiffs,

By _________________________


One of their Attorneys

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

The undersigned, one of the counsel of record for Plaintiffs, Ms. Joyce Conroy, Mr. Gary Akers, and Ms. Goerner, furnishes the following in compliance with CDIL-LR 11.3 of this court.

________________________

____________________________________

DATE





F. Willis Caruso






Attorney for The Plaintiff’s

F.WILLIS CARUSO

The John Marshall Fair Housing Legal Clinic

28 E. Jackson Blvd., Suite 500

Chicago, Illinois 60604

312-786-9842

SUSAN MARIE CONNOR

The John Marshall Law School

315 South Plymouth Court, Suite #1213

Chicago, Illinois 60604

312-427-2737, ext 375

HANA ST.CLAIR & MICHAEL FLECK,

Illinois Supreme Court Rule 711 Students

The John Marshall Fair Housing Legal Clinic

28 East Jackson Blvd., Suite #500

Chicago, Illinois 60604

312-786-2267
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